# BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL

# AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Minutes of the Meeting held on 11 April 2024 at 6.00 pm

Present:-

# Cllr M Andrews – Chairman Cllr E Connolly – Vice-Chairman

Present: Cllr J Beesley, Cllr B Castle, Cllr A Chapmanlaw, Cllr M Phipps, Cllr C Weight, Cllr S Armstrong, Jansen-VanVuuren, Samantha Acton and Cllr M Tarling (In place of Cllr R Herrett)

# 69. <u>Apologies</u>

Apologies were received from Cllr R Herrett.

# 70. <u>Substitute Members</u>

Cllr M Tarling substituted for Cllr R Herrett.

71. <u>Declarations of Interests</u>

There were none received.

## 72. <u>Confirmation of Minutes</u>

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 March were approved as a correct record.

73. <u>Public Issues</u>

There were 4 public questions received and 3 public statements as follows:

Mr Alex McKinstry, in relation to agenda item 6 and 2 questions from Mr Ian Redman (being read by Mr McKinstry), in relation to agenda items 9 and 6.

# Public Questions from Mr Alex McKinstry

1. Of the Freedom of Information Act requests received by BCP Council in 2023-4, how many were dismissed as vexatious, and how many were reclassified as non-vexatious following a request for an internal review /referral to the ICO? If the number of reclassifications is significant - and I accept that it might not be - is this a matter which is being discussed at Information Governance Board meetings, and if so, what lessons are being learned?

# **Response from the Chair:**

There were 1458 FOI/EIR requests processed in 2023/24, of these none were refused under S14 (vexatious).

-2-

There were 2 requests dealt with under an internal review where S14 was applied after further consideration.

There were no reclassifications overturning the S14 decisions to the internal review responses.

2. Of the 38 requests for internal reviews made in 2023-4, how many responses to those requests were issued outside the 20-working-day guideline recommended by the ICO?

## **Response from the Chair:**

9 responses to internal reviews were not made within the ICO response guideline of 20 working days.

Of these 9 responses, 8 were met within 40 days (including a 20 working day permitted extension for complex requests, consultation with third parties or where a substantial amount of information is requested)

## Public Questions from Mr Ian Redman

3. Why would aggregating activities into larger packages increase the number of potential providers and offer better value for money for the Council through greater competition? Aggregating activities into larger packages might save work for the council by reducing the number of tenders but larger packages is more likely to prevent smaller businesses taking part in the tender process, reducing competition and providing less choice for consumers.

## Response from the Chairman:

The actual Internal Audit recommendation reads :

'R8 - Formal consideration should be given to aggregating activities into larger packages where possible and appropriate to do so to increase the number of potential providers and potentially offer better value for money for the Council through greater competition'.

The key words in this recommendation are 'consider' and 'where possible and appropriate', the recommendation does not imply that all activities should be aggregated.

There is a fine balance to strike, Mr Redman is quite right that in certain situations larger packages of activity may prevent smaller businesses from taking part in tendering or providing quotes, thus reducing competition and providing less choice for consumers.

Conversely however in certain situations, if activity packages are too small, this can put off certain suppliers from making the effort to tender or to supply quotes as any eventual return on this effort and on fixed costs incurred is considered insufficient reward. This is simple economies of scale.

Aggregation of activity into large tender opportunity packages can therefore, in certain appropriate situations, be beneficial to both overall value for money and increase competition.

4. PMIs do not measure the quality of FOI responses. There is no indication of customer satisfaction or the number of emails per FOI

request. Dorset Council, like many local authorities, provide full details of all FOI requests on their website. Some LA's even direct you to a list of recent FOIs before you can submit one. Will BCP follow the examples of best practise and start to publish in full, all FOI requests and responses? Hopefully in real time. This will not measure customer satisfaction but would improve transparency, reduce duplication and improve the quality and professionalism of responses.

#### Response:

IG measure the quality of FOI responses through the data recorded for internal reviews. This provides an indication of customer satisfaction through the quality of the first response.

Table 1 shows that 1458 requests were processed during 2023/24.

Table 9 shows that the authority received 38 requests for an internal review during 2023/24.

From this data we calculate that 97% of applicants were satisfied with the 1<sup>st</sup> response and 3% were not satisfied and requested an internal review.

We use the data recorded from internal reviews to identify weaknesses and to help improve performance.

The current system does not provide an audit of emails associated with each request – we know that 97% of requestors are satisfied with the first response requiring an average of two emails. Where excessive numbers of emails are received associated to one request, placing a burden on resources, this will be referred to the IG team to investigate.

The current system does not provide the ability to publish a Disclosure log – this would be function sought in any new system in the future.

#### Public Statements

There were two public statements from Mr Gatrell read out by Democratic Services Officer as follows and one statement from Mr McKinstry which he read out.

1. INTERNAL AUDIT PROCESSES REQUIRING INCLUSION IN THE 2024/25 WORK PLAN RELATING TO THE ACCURACY AND INTEGRATION OF "KEY" ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS GENERATING CORE DATA FOR THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS: "Capital Adjustment Account" movements are noted in each Statement of Accounts except - incongruously - the second year 2020/21. Discrepancies exist between the notes and latest source spreadsheets I obtained. Similarly, the notes do not identify as prior year restatements these adjustments made to expenditure "Reversal items" - • Increase in "Depreciation and Impairment ..." regarding the 2020/21 finalised Accounts adjusted via the page 58 comparative column in the 2021/22 draft Accounts - being £2,305,339 more than the 2020/21 spreadsheet. • Reduction in "Non-Current assets written off ...." regarding the 2021/22 Accounts adjusted in the 1 April 2022 balance and 2021/22 comparatives on page 56 of the 2022/23 draft Accounts - being £722,000 less than the 2021/22 spreadsheet. The page 56

comparative 2021/22 subtotals £83,678,000 and £(95,995,000) each contain a £1,000 overcasting error.

- 2. REGARDING THE CONSTITUTION'S REVIEW: MONITORING OFFICER'S DUTIES SECTIONS 5 AND 5A LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING ACT 1989 Constitution 11.3b on 2-24 is fundamentally incorrect because - . The Monitoring Officer must report to each Member - or to Cabinet where the executive arrangements apply - regarding actual and potential contraventions of law as well as Ombudsman investigation decisions on maladministration or service failure. • This reporting duty continues when not "practicable" for that Officer to consult with the Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer regarding the report. To ensure Council's effective accountability - . Sound decisions by Members including regarding contended inconsequential contraventions - are recognition of relevant law dependent upon correct and comprehensive compliance registers. • Article 14.2 on 2-29 empowers the Monitoring Officer to implement without referral necessary Constitutional amendments. • The current Officer's preceding tenure at Birmingham Council affirms the necessary above. amendments identified In 26 words Birmingham's Constitution references correct application of Sections 5 and 5A.
- 3. A development I've noticed recently is for officers to provide updates to those who have submitted Freedom of Information requests, if the statutory deadline is breached; and to provide the requester with any information thus far received. Though not ideal, this is a tremendous step forward and does provide some reassurance for requesters. If the Information Governance Board could look towards adopting this as a default protocol, it would improve the FOI experience no mean degree.

# 74. Information Governance Update

The Head of Information Governance (IG) presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'A' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. The report provided an update from Information Governance on performance management information across the Council including that related to Freedom of Information (FOI) Requests and Subject Access Requests (SAR). The Head of IG outlined the structure for the Service and how FOIs and SARs are handled across the Council. The Committee was advised that there was a new management team in place working to review how the IG function worked across BCP and looking to see what improvements could be made to the service. The Committee was also asked to note the response rates for the year.

In responding to the fact that Law and Governance had recorded a 10 percent response rate in Q3 it was explained that requests coming in were rarely simple and therefore it was difficult to find the correct information

within the required timeframe and resources were stretched across different areas.

The Head of IG explained in response to a question about the review of the IG structure that this was in the early stages and a workshop was due to take place the following week which would look at how well the service was resourced. The aim for improving the services was that the 90 percent target would be reached. This would be included within the internal audit plan which should help to support and improve this function within LG, which should in turn assist the Data Protection and Information Governance Service. Policies and procedures would also be looked into as part of a comprehensive review. The current performance termed unsatisfactory, the timescale for moving to satisfactory would be approximately 1 year.

It was suggested that the average response time for those falling outside of the requisite period would be useful and that the case management system would be useful to drive this forward.

The Committee discussed the provision of data breach information. It was noted that there was a separate log for this but the service would be looking into how this worked and how it could be combined into the reporting system. The service was working to minimise exposure to risks.

# **RESOLVED** that

 (a) Committee note the Information Governance (IG) performance management information (PMI) for 2023/24 (Q1 to Q3 – December 2024) contained in this report.

This includes requests received under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), Environmental Information Regulations (EIRs), Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) and other agency disclosure requests.

(b) Committee note that currently a review is underway by leadership team of the function of IG within BCP Council.

Voting: Nem. Con

# 75. <u>Risk Management – Corporate Risk Register Update</u>

The Chief Executive presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. The Committee was informed that the report provided an update on the position of the council's Corporate Risk Register. The main updates were outlined to the Committee.

- Two risks were combined (CR02 and CR12)
- One risk was re-included (CR08)
- 4 new risks were added (CR16, CR23, CR24, CR25)
- 3 risks were removed (CR12, CR13, CR22)

The Committee was advised that it was expected that CR02 was increased from 6 to 12 incorrectly and that this would be reduced in the next iteration

of the Risk Register. The material updates for the quarter were outlined in the report.

The Committee discussed the response to CR15 concerning staff recruitment, retention and support, which was 'to tolerate or accept'. This would be followed up with the Risk and Insurance Manager, but it was noted that there were limits in terms of attracting staff. The Committee suggested that it would be useful for the register to include the direction of travel over the course of a year.

There was a concern raised that there wasn't a risk recorded regarding meeting the statutory requirements for housing. It was noted that this would be included within the Housing Service Risk Register. CR20, regarding the environment and CR03 on information governance were also raised as previously downgraded and it was questioned whether these should be put back on the register. In consideration of the merge of CR02 and CR12 it was noted that these areas were repetitive in the Corporate Risk Register but there was a complete risk register for Children's Services which would provide a complete breakdown for the service area.

It was noted that the change with CR13 and CR25 had already happened. This was a significant risk. It was noted that this was due to a change in the direction of the transformation programme to services. It was suggested that it would be helpful if as soon as ready could be distributed to the Committee.

It was asked whether CR16 - Failure to Secure Partnerships, should be linked to the transformation programme. The Chief Executive advised that the Council did not have a devolution deal. There was concern that there would be a re-entrenchment in police, health and local government. The risk reflected the challenges in the current public sector environment.

There was general support expressed for the submission of the risk register to Cabinet and possibly Council. There was also general agreement that the Committee should look at Service Level Risk Registers. It was agreed that the programme and scheduling for this be agreed with the Service Lead and Chair. It was proposed that this begin with Children's Services and this would be followed up by the Chief Executive and Director of Childrens Services.

# **RESOLVED** that the Audit and Governance Committee note the update provided in this report relating to corporate risks.

Voting: Nem. Con

## 76. <u>Internal Audit - Audit Charter & Audit Plan 2024/25</u>

The Head of Internal Audit presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B to these Minutes in the Minute Book. The report set out the Internal Audit Charter and the Audit Plan for 2024/25. The Committee needed to approve

these documents as a requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The Committee was informed that some minor amendments had been made to the Internal Audit Charter which includes an updated Data Analytics Strategy.

The final Internal Audit Plan for 2024/25 included some minor amendments from the version provided to the Audit & Governance Committee in January 2024. The completion of the plan would enable the Head of Audit & Management Assurance to provide an annual opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council's control environment.

The allocated budget resource for 2024/25 was considered adequate to deliver the Internal Audit Charter and Audit Plan for 2024/25. The Committee was advised of the process for ensuring the independence of Chief Internal Auditor in respect of the other services they managed.

The Committee asked how the allocation of audit hours related to the corporate and operational risk registers. In response the Committee was advised that the allocation of days was broadly on budget and a professional assessment. Children services was already under external inspections and an improvement board and therefore there tended to be less work in this area as formal assurance process was in place externally.

There was no resource allocated for 2024/25 for the allocation of grants which was an area which may be impacted by fraud. There was a process for the approval of grants which had to be signed off by the Head of Internal Audit and the Chief Executive. Risks around grants would be reported within the quarterly update to the A&G Committee if required.

As scoping was not completed for each audit it was explained that the determination of allocated days was planned at the start of the year to be strategic and set out a broad allocation. Certain key assurance functions were planned in and the time requirements were known on annual basis for some functions. However, there was a need to be more dynamic in the approach to high-risk functions and these would be addressed in an initial meeting between auditors and Service Directors.

## **RESOLVED** that

- the Internal Audit Charter be approved and that the Chair sign the document to record this approval (this may be a virtual sign off using email).
- The Internal Audit Plan 2024/25 including the detailed breakdown of quarter 1 audits be approved

note the 2024/25 budget for the Internal Audit service which was approved by Council as part of the 2024/25 Council Budget setting and Medium Term Financial Plan update in February 2024

Voting: Nem. Con

# 77. Internal Audit - 4th Quarter, 2023/24, Audit Plan Update

The Head of Internal Audit presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. The Committee was asked to note the progress against the implementation of the recommendations from the Review of Pop-up/Temporary activities incorporating Bayside Restaurant Review.

The report detailed the progress made on delivery of the 2023/24 Audit Plan for the 4<sup>th</sup> quarter 2024. The Committee was advised of the key areas outlined in the report. It was noted that five 'High' priority audit recommendations had not been fully implemented by the original target date but explanations from respective Directors appeared reasonable and revised target dates had been agreed. It was noted that whilst not preferred audits had been taken out on the basis of risk.

A number of areas within the Internal Audit 4<sup>th</sup> Quarter Audit Plan were raised by the Committee and responded to or assurances provided that further information would be shared outside of the meeting. The scope of the in-progress audit entitled 'Developer Contributions - Management of Spend Audit' would be provided to members of the Committee outside of the meeting. It was noted that the business case template developed as part of the recommendations for the Review of Pop-up/Temporary activities incorporating Bayside Restaurant would be circulated to members to assure the Committee that it included the required content. A further concern was raised regarding the firewall risk outlined in the paper and an update would be brought to the next meeting.

Concern was raised that the number of high priority recommendations issued had increased from the previous year. It was explained that direct comparisons from one year to another could not be drawn, as many factors impact, such as type and scope of the audit, framing of the recommendation and only 'key assurance' audits are completed on an annual basis.

The Head of Internal Audit advised that he would not want to create any perverse incentives within the Internal Audit team to make or not make recommendations to align with previous year levels; he further explained it is his responsibility to ensure that the recommendations made were relevant and appropriate. If the number of recommendations reduced significantly there may be some concern as it may mean the right high-risk areas were not being targeted for audits. It was suggested by a committee member that the level of assurance was less due to the greater number of findings. The Head of Internal Audit explained that such a stark conclusion could not be drawn given the impacting factors explained previously.

It was noted that it was hard to demonstrate that some of the recommendations had been completed and it was requested whether

further tests could be put in place to check the recommendations were embedded.

-9-

# **RESOLVED** that

- a) The progress made and issues arising on the delivery of the 2023/24 Internal Audit Plan be noted.
- b) The explanations provided (Appendix 1) be noted and the Committee determined, in the case of High Priority recommendations not implemented by the initially agreed target date, if further explanation and assurance from the Service / Corporate Director is required.
- c) Note the progress against the implementation of the recommendations from the Review of Pop-up/ Temporary activities incorporating Bayside Restaurant Review.

Voting Nem. Con.

# 78. <u>Review of the Council's Constitution - Recommendations of the Constitution</u> <u>Review Working Group</u>

The Constitution Review Working Group presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'E' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. The Head of Democratic Services advised that the plan would be to review these recommendations and that any recommendations arising from the Committee would be referred to full Council for adoption. The intention was to bring forward additional procedure rules for the budget setting meeting. The report summarised the issues considered by the Constitution Review Working Group and set out a series of recommendations arising from the Working Group for consideration by the Committee relating to the introduction of budget and policy framework procedure rules. It was noted that the recommendations arose from the best value review and was put into the CE review on previous MOs request.

It was noted that the recommendations would bring clarity around the budget and corporate monitoring framework and provided an option for issues if there was disagreement with the budget recommendation. In the discussion it was noted that there was no impact on the Leader of Finance Portfolio Holder positions. There was an aim towards a dedicated budget Council. There was a plan to survey Councillors on some of the other issues raised and come back with a further package of proposals.

RECOMMENDED that in relation to Issue 1 (Budget and Policy Framework Approval Procedure Rules) the proposed amendment to insert the new Procedure Rules into Part 4E of the Constitution, as set out in Appendix 1 to this report, be approved; any necessary and consequential technical and formatting related updates and revisions to the Constitution be delegated to the Monitoring Officer.

# 79. Forward Plan - Indicative for the 2024/25 municipal year

The Head of Internal Audit presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix '?' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. The report set out the indicative list of reports to be considered by the Audit & Governance Committee for the 2024/25 municipal year in order to enable it to fulfil its terms of reference.

**RESOLVED** that

The Audit & Governance Committee approves the indicative Forward Plan set out at Appendix A.

Voting: Nem. Con.

The meeting ended at 8.00 pm

<u>CHAIRMAN</u>